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CITY OF FAITH . . _ .

Medical and Research Center .._ , , , , _ .

Oral Roberts Ministries

March 12, 1984 3 -/[ g g-C/
-

1

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
R:gion IV
611 Ryan Plaza Drive, Suite 1000
Arlington, Texas 76012

Dacr Sirs:

This is a diagnostic misadministration report.

A bone scan was to be performed under the license 35-18282 on the morning of
Fcbruary 27, 1984 on a patient referred by Nadim Nimeh, M.D. at the City of
Faith Medical and Research Center.

Tha technologist giving the injection inadvertently injected a liver dose of
4cci of Tc-99m labeled Sulfur Colloid intended for another study. Upon real-
1:ing the mistake, the technologist notified the patient's physician, the super-
visor of the Nuclear Medicine Laboratory and the Radiation Safety officer. The
patient was also informed of the misadministration and suffered no ill effects
from it.

Tha technologist will check the doses with the patient name prior to injection
cnd not rely on memory in the future.

A copy of this report is being sent to Dr. Nimeh, the referring physician, and
th: Radiation Safety officer.

Sincerely -

N|DavidLgach,'ChiefTechnologistWY
.

Nuclear Medicine Division / Radiologic Services

NDL:db

I"I Filo c0DFcc: David Anderson, M.D.
Charles Gosnell, M.D.
Nadim Nimeh, M.D.

_
_ ..

8181 South Lewis8507270198 850624 P.O. Bos 36000 g|
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REGION IV

TECHNICAL INSPECTION BRANCH
DRAFT INSPECTION REPORT

Licensee: ORAL ROBERTS UNIVERSITY L Report: 8201

7777 South Lewis Avenue License: 35-18782-01
Tulse, OK 74171 Category / Priority: FIA til

Licensee Contact: _Rocer D. Hartman, PhD --RSO Telephone No.:918-492-6169
Richard A. Gilmore, PnDInspection At:

Previous Inspection Dates: March 12, 1980 Findings : 2 N/C
Current Inspection Dates: March 17 A 18. 1987 Type Inspection: routine,

unannouncc

Inspection Findinos

i No violations, clear 591 issuedi

CD Violations, Appendix A or equivalent attached
tj Violations , 591 issued
E v-] Regional Office Letter
CD Action on Previou:: inspection findings, Aapendix B attached

Recommendations

n Change category to:
O Change Priority to:
O Change next inspection Date to: vara toaa

i Inspectors comments / supplemental information, Appendix Ci

1

1

Persons Contacted

* Pichard A. Gilmore, PhD. Assoc. Jody Cooper, Lab. Tech.
Dean for/Si .edica|

m a r,., Ph[,RSd,Dir.Rocer D' H e*

Nancy Leckle, Lab. Tech. & Studentof Researen
Ph0 / gevglopmunta(n d/ j

H . M . /R h e e , /j / p/ / j Thomas Blake, Student

S.A.(Garreffh] I c'*
M "ec. ";ke Smith, Receiving Clerk

Ins ctor / h en, Rad 4pecialist C. Rad. Specialist
Approved:

/}bfh jg
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licensee: Oral Roberts University License flo:35-1 e ?n?-n i mendment tio: AA

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

Lic Cond 16 1. Oroanization

a. Management S.A. Garett, M.D.

b. Radiation protection Roger D. Hartman, PhD., RSO
ORU currently seeking a full time radiation
safety officer.

Composition of radiation safety committee as required

Meeting conducted quarterly.
,,

Lic Cond 16 2. Licensee Internal audits
a. Required by LC or application (X} { } { }
b. Frequency of audits Quarter 1y

Audit detes covering inspection period
Audits comhinod w1+h radfa+f^m safety committee,
semi-annual trainInRecords of audits require 8 and licensing meetiiSgb{}c.

d. Records of audits available {X } { } { }
e. Management involved in audits {X } { } { }
f. Management corrective actions {X } { } { }
g. Type of Audit {X } Announced g {X} Unannounced

Notos/ Remarks:
B. Ahlwalla, PhD., Radiation Consultant

|

Lic Cond 16 3. Trelnina, Retrainina and Instruciton to Employees

a. Required by LC or application {X} { } { }
b. Frequency of training OJ T at time of hire

retraining semi-annualIy

Training dates covering inspection period
12/15/80 & 11/10/81

Retraining dates covering inspection period
As above

c. Records of training required { } {XI{}

d. Records of retraining required { } {X } { }
O~
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licer.see: Oral Roberts Universitv ' icense No :3 s _3 9 9 9 9_ n 3 Amendment No:-
,

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A
_-

e. Test or examir,; tion D ven { } {X } { }i

f. Test or examinations avullable {}{}k}
10 CFR 19.12 g. Instruction to workers { X} { }

Reg. G. 8.13 h. Prenatal rad!ation exposure instruction { X} { } { }
to female employees

Notes / Remarks:
..

4. Radiation Protee,t,lon Procedures (Violation)

perating & emergency procedures available {X } { } { }a.
Lic Cond 16

b. Personnel understand O & E procedures {x } { } { }
.

Notes / Remarks:
Interviews confirm understanding of regulations.

Tour of labs did result in inspectors finding an unopened
can of " Tab" and an Individual pipeting P-32 by mouth.t
Questioning of the Individuals responsible for these
violation of ORU Radiation Protection Procedures revealed
16; i ii u inoiviauais cic know better and had been instruct =

5. efndW bmd6te' hod,h em ,

e. Types of radiation survey Instruments avullable
Instrument Mfg. Model No. Serist No. Calibration Date Range
------------------------------------------------------------------~~---------------~~-

EberiIne 7584 11/13/82 0---20 mR/h
Ludlum 5 34127 11/13/82 0---2000mR/h
Johnson 22994 11/13/82 0---20mR/h

Calibration 2 point usinq 25.32 mg Ra-226 NBS certlfled needles

- - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ -- _
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

t s _1 o o o o _ g j mendment No:ALicensee: Oral Roberts University License NO: ,

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

b. Radiation survey instruments adequate for {X} { }
...

program

c. Calibration procedure in accordance with {X} { }
IIcense application

i Notes / Remarks: d. Calibration vendor B. AhIwalIa

|
Utilizing procedures accepted by NRC as specified'

in Reg. Guide 10.8.
,,

!

l

6. Materials & Postino (Violatfor
I a. Materials authorized by license'

Lic Cond s_o

. '' ~

._ _ _ _ . _ _ . COMPLETE INVENTORY.

** Licensee possesses a 15 milleurie Ni-63 sealed
source which is unauthorized by material license.
No serial number available. Unit housed in G.C.

Hewlett-Packark model
b. Materials on hand 5840.

Byproduct Material Chem /Phy Form Amount Use
_______________________________________________________________________________________

c. Use and quantites in accordance with { } {X}
license.

10 CFR 20.207 d. Radioactive material secured to prevent

unauthorized removal from:
1. Restricted area { X} { }

II. Unrestricted area { X} { }

"" Licensee identified problem
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AREA INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licensee: Oral Roberts University License No:35-18282-01 Amendment No: 4

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITD1S Yes No N/A

e. Posting and labeling

10 CFR 20.203(e)(f) Caution Radioactive Material { X} I } I }
.

10 CFR 20.203'b) Caution Radiation Area { } { } { X}

10 CFR 20.203(c) Caution High Radiation Area { } { } { X}
..

Notes / Remarks:

Inspectors noted that radioactive materials were labeled as such.

Inspectors noted that radioactive waste had been pick up and placed in |
a waste. receiving area but was not labeled radioactive material. Discussic
with RSO reveals that the waste is only picked up prior to packag i ng.
The inspectors pointed out that the radioactive waste bags should be
labeled radioactive if they were going to be left unattended for any length

of time prior to putting materials in drums.
7. Facilities

Llc Cond ig a. Facilities as required by license {X} { }
b. Changes in facility { } {( }

Notes / Remarks:

8. Receipt and Transf er of Material

10 CFR 20.205(b)(c) a. Procedures for picking up, receiving and {X } { } { }
10 CFR 71.51 opening packages available

b. Incomming shipments monitored {X } { } { }
.

10 CFR 20.401(b) c. Records of monitoring maintained {X } { }{}

10 CFR 30.41 d. Transfer of byproduct material { } { } {X}
10 CFR 30.51 e. Records of receipt, transfer, storage, surveys {X } { }{}

and monitoring.

Central control through RSO office. AlI orders must be approved by RSO.
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

license f40:35-18287-01 Amendment No: ALicensee: Ora 1 R o h n r- + e ifnion-et+S_,

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

10 CFR 71.5 1. Labeling and packaging { } { } { X)
49 CFR 170 to 189 |

g. Reports to Conynission required by {}{}
LC, notices or regulations

|

h. Reports submitted {}{}

Notes / Remarks:

.

9, Personnel Radiation Protection-Exterior

10 CFR 20.101 a. Personnel dosimetry available
20.102 { X} f i lm { } tid {} ther { }not required
20.202

b. Film or tid badge supplier

R.S. Landauer. Jr. & Co.

c. Exchange frequency

{ X} monthly { } quarterly { } other

d. Dosimetry data reviewed by
RSO --posted for review

e. Dostmetry reports reviewed for dates

covering 3/80 to 3/82

f. NRC forms or eaulvalent available & complete
10 CFR 20.102(b) NRC 4 {g{}

10 CFR 20.401(a) NRC 5 { }{}
Equivalent Vendor Report O( } { }

g. Number of personnel monitored 110

10 CFR 20.104 h. Number of minors monitored 0

1. Maximum wholetody exposure 30 mr

190J. Maximum extremity exposure mr

_ _ _ _ _ _
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licensee: Ora | Roberts University License No: u _5o999_n1 mendment No:A ,

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

"
10 CFR 20.1 k. Radiation surveys of unrestricted areas {X} I }
10 CFR 20.105 restricted areas {X} { }
10 CFR 20.401 1. Records of surveys of unrestricted areas {y} { }

restricted areas {X} { }
m. Records of surveys reviewed by management {X} I } I }

tbtes/Remanks: Radiation surveys and contamination surveys performed
by individual investigator. Survey data complete and
aval! cole.,

,

.

10. Personnel Radiation Protection-Internal

10 CFR 20.103 a. Potential exist for exposure to airborne { } {X } I }concentrations of radioactive material

10 CFR 20.203 b. Airborne radioactivity area posted {}{}

c. Monitoring and/or control program exist {}{}

d. Monitoring and/or control program adequate {}{}

e. Records of monitoring maintained & adequate {}{}

f. Records of monitoring reviewed by

g. Respiratory protection required {}{}

h. Respiratory portection program adequate {}{}.

1. Bioassy program required {X} { }
No bloassays performed since last inspection.

J. Bloassy program adequate {X} { }
k. Smear and/or wipe survey program required {X} { }
1. Smear and/or wipe survey program adequate {X} { }

m. Smear and/or wipe survey records avalalble {X} { }
Notes / Remarks:

-Quantites of materials utilized less than the amount required for

bloassays. ,
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

3s_sn9o7_o1 mendment No: nALicensee: Oral Roberts Universitv License No:

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

11. Leak Test

Lic Cond a. Leak test required {}{}%)

b. Leak test f requency
{ } 6 month { } 1 yr { } 2 yr { } 3 yr { } other

c. Leak test supplier / Vendor

d. Leak test records audit''

lescEe_Mie ______Med!!_______!!rlel_th _______9sen!!y____Isetees_ ____Legk_fest______,

.

Notes / Remarks:

No leak test available on unauthorized Ni-63 foII.

12. Radioactive Ef f luent Control and Waste Disposal

Byproduct material released to { } Atmosphere10 CFR 20.106 a.
{ 9 Sewer20.303 { } N/A

10 CFR 20.401 b. Records of releases maintained { X} { }

c. Solid waste disposal { X} { } { }
10 CFR 20.301

20.303
20.305-306

10 CFR 20.401 d. Procedures and records for waste disposal { X} { } { }
available

Notes / Remarks:
,

I

L.
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licensee: Oral Roberts University ' License No:3 c;_ i n 9 n 9_ n 3 Amendment No: f

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

13. Transportation of Radioactive Material

Prepares for transport { } Type A byproduct material49 CFR 173.394-395-398 a.
{} TYPE B49 CFR 173.393(a) LSA materIaI

10 CFR 71.12(b)
b. Utilization of proper transport container { } { } {y)

c. Documentation available for each transport { } { } { y3

container
..

49 CFR 173.39B(a) d. Performance standards available for each { } { ) { y)

type of sealed source

49 CFR 173.393 e. General shipping and packaging requirements { } { } { X}
177.842(d) met

49 CFR 173.24-25 f. Packages marked in accordance with Title 49 { } { } { X}
173.393

g. Vehicles placarded { } { } { X}

h. Training given to personnel on proper transportation
procedures. {}{}

Notes / Remarks:

Radioactive waste material packaged and transported by vendor. Vendor
takes title to waste a ORU.

14. Notification and Reports

10 CFR 19.13 a. Reports to individuals {X}{}

10 CFR 20.403 b. Overexposures, excessive levels & { } { X}
20.405 concentrations

10 CFR 20.407 c. Personnel exposure & monitoring reports {9{}{}

{ } { } {X}
10 CFR 20.408 d. Termination reports

10 CFR 20.407 e. Annual summary report to NRC {X } { } { }

f. Notification of theft or loss of material { } { } {X }
Notes / Remarks:
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS
~

Licensee: Oral Roberts University License No35-18282_01 Amendment No: a

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS Yes No N/A

* 15. Posting of Notices

10 CFR 19.11(a) a. Parts 10 CFR 19 & 20, License & associated {X } { }
docements, procedures & notice of violation
posted

10 CFR 19.11(c) b. NRC 3 posted {X } { }

Notes / Remarks:

..

16. Environmental Monitoring Procram

a. Environmental program required { } { } {X} ,

b. Environmental monitoring records maintained {}{}{}

Notes / Remarks:

17. Confirmatory Measurements

a. Independent measurements made by inspector

M&_________!er i al_h_____mBG
NRC Instrument yn+ny TnaA ao99
Licensee Instrument

b. Source of comparison

Notes / Remarks:

Lab 2C-31 radiation levels in front of hood. 1.2 mR/h

18. Other License Conditions

Lic Cond {}{}
|

Lic Cond {}{}

Lic Cond {}{}

l
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AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS
'

Licensee: Oral Roberts Universi+v ' License NO: 35-18282-01 Amendment No: a

CRITERIA INSPECTION ITEMS

19. Independent inspection Effort

{ } a. Transportation

{ } b. Handling of RAM

{ } c. Storage of RAM

{ } d. Waste Disposal
..

{ } e. Receipt of RAM

{ } f. Records: (specify)
.

{y) g. Inventory of RAM

{ } h. Dosimetry

{} 1. NRC Rules and Regulations

{ } j. NRC Regulatory Guides

{} k. Application review of program requirements

{X) 1. Personnel Interviews

{ } m. Calibration procedures & protocol

{} n. Leak test

{ } o. Posting requirements

{} p. Security of materials

{} q. Incident follow-up

{} r. Special NRC assigned projects

Notes / Remarks:
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License Condition 6 authorizes the possession of any form of NI-63

not to exceed a total of 8 millicuries.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee possessed a 15 millicurie

Ni-63 sealed source contained in a Hewlett-Packard Model 5840 gas
'

chromatograph on March 17, 1982.
-

...

This is a S e v e rJ t y Levei IV.vlotat.i.on (Supplement VII.D.3).

.
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~ License Condition 16 requires, in part, that licensed activities be.

conducted in accordance with st at eme nt s , representations, and procedures
contained in your applicatlo,n dated September 5, 1978,and letter dated

November 30, 1978, w11h attachment entit1ed " Manual for the use of
Radioactive Meteria l - Oral Roberts University". ,

"

a. S 'e~c't l o n 6, Part 4 of the item entitled " Handling of Radioactive
Ma t e r i a'l " , of the Oral Rob ~erts University (ORU) radiation safety
manual prohibits eating, storing or preparation of food in a
laboratory or room where work with unsealed radioactive material
is conducted and the possibility of contamination could exist.

Contrary to this requirement, a food item was discovered by the
NRC inspectors in a laboratory containing unsealed radioactive
material on March 18, 1982.

b. *Section 8, Part 5 of the item entitled " Handling of Radioactive
Material", of the ORU radiation safety manual prohibits pipetting
of radioactive material by mouth.

_.

Contrary to this requirement, pipetting of g-32 by mouth was
,

observed by t he NRC inspectors on March 18, 1982.
'

.

*

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement Vll.E).
*

.
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License Condition 16 requires, in part, that ilcensed activities be

conducted in accordance with statements, representations, and procedures

contained in your applicatio,n dated September 5, 1978,and letter dated

November 30, 1978, with attachment entitled " Manual for the use of

Radioactive Material - Oral Roberts University". ,,

'

S ' *c~t i o n 8 , Part 4 of the Item entitled " Handling of Radioactivea. e

Ma t e r i a~l " , of the Oral Rob'drts University (ORU) radiation safety

manual prohibits eating, storing or preparation of food in a

laboratory or room where work with unsealed radioactive material

is conducted and the possibility of contamination could exist.

Contrary to this requirement, a food item.was discovered by the

NRC inspectors in a laboratory containing unsealed radioactive

material on March 18, 1982.

b. 'Section 8, Part 5 of the item entitled " Handling of Radioactive

Material", of the ORU radiation safety manual prohibits pipetting

of radioactive material by mouth.

Contrary to this requirement, pipetting of p-32 by mouth was
s

observed by the NRC inspectors on March 18, 1982.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement Vll.E).

.

.
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APPSNDIX 3 - LICENSEE ACTICN CN PPSICUS INSPECTICH FIFCINGS <
.

.

Licenses: OraI Ro'berts UniversItv License no: 35-18282-01

a

Identification and sumery of action taken Status

Report no: Anni Type n/c: age. Describe: 1n cro ?n_ont(43 Iwhotin7 of
*

Action taken: Container containing
CPU

. radioactive materiai'

Cme -
Inspections by the RSO and by the individual investigator
have corrected this violation. The inspectors noted that all
containers were labeled in accordance with the Regulations.

,

Report no: 8001 Type n/c: def. Cescribe:10 CFR 19.11(a)or(b) Posting

Action taken: -

CPEN

The' inspectors noted during thi.s inspection that the
"05Gregulations and other required documents were posted.

.

Report no: Type n/c: Describe:

Action taken:
OPS

CLOSE

-

.

- - ... . . . .. .

I

Report no: Type n/c: Describe: ;
'Action taken:

OPS

CLOSE

Report no: Type n/c: Describe:--

Action taken: ,

vPEN

CLOSE

|

|

_ -. . . _ .
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INSPECTION PLAN AND REPORT NLPEER 80 % Page 1 of 1.

Plan approved: Date:

Licensee: (9 re ( S ebad5 (idVErs:h License no: 35 ie 7 #2 -o1

ed or Post-ins ction: Inspection Items Module no. 766 Time Info

Management meeting - Entrance j /
and Exit Interviews / / 307038 Q

(*1C"*"I_

Management Meeting / /Initial
3o8006 |

Program requirements, J 11?|OS b"MC2850
(AsvorxD1

Licensee Event Followup 92700B

Followup on
Inspector-identified problems 92701B Q

. Followup on Noncompliance*

and Deviations 927028 Q
.

IE Bulletin /Imediate Action
- Letter Followup 927038

- Followup on .
-

e,_

Headquarters Requests
'

927048

Followup on
Regional Requests 927058

Independent Inspection / 7270d {Effort
IRECentel

Inspector Dispatched to Site 937008

Followup on Significant Event
Occurring During Inspection 937018

.

D3.

_.
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Orol' Roberts university
. ,

7777 South Lewis * Tulsa. Oklahoma 74171 |

17 May 82

Mr. Glen D. Brown, Chief
Technical Program Branch
NCR Region VI
Suite 1000
611 Ryan Plaza Drive
Arlington, Texas 76011

Re: License 35-18282-01
Dear Mr. Brown:

This is in response to your letter of 21 April 82 reporting on
violations listed by NRC inspectors Jack Whitten and Charles Hooker
during their site visit to our campus 16-17 March 1982.

Please be advised that all responses and documentation of each
case are attached in the Appendix to this letter.

Further, please note we have taken steps to secure a full time
Radiation Safety Officer. Advertisement has been published, and of
this date, responses to the ad are being received.

Based upon the discussion in the Appendix, full compliance has
been achieved as of 21 April 1982 - the date of receipt of the license
amendment. Thank you for your assistance in clearing this up.

Sincerely,

f .

. I .3 *, '?W
Roger D. Hartman, Ph.D., Assoc. Dean,
Research and Grants Administration
Acting Radiation Safety Officer

f xc

Richard A. Gilmore, Ph.D., Assoc. Dean,
Biomedical Sciences
Chairman, Radiation Safety Committee

C [7 - A (. O I''

Sy ey A. Garrett, M.D., Dean,
School of Wedicine
Acting Director,
Research and Grants Administration

RDH:jcl

Appendix enclosed N _ , J ., L , e . - .

s m w o n .1 S Y
3pp %
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APPENDIX

RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION

ORAL ROBERTS UNIVERSITY Docket: 30-14781
License: 35-18282-01

1. Use of N163 exceeding license limits.

a. Per attached letter to J.E. Whitten from Dr. R.A. Gilmore
dated 19 March and subsequent telecon with Mr. Whitten on
26 March 1982, we discontinued use of the Hewlett Packard
model 5840 gas chromatograph, and we agreed to apply for an
amendment to increase the use of limits of N163.

b. Per attached letter to W.J. Walker, Jr., from Drs. R.A.
Gilmore and R.D. Hartman, we requested amendment to increase
use limits sealed sources of N163 for gas chromatograph work.

c. Per attached letter from J.T. Collins to Dr. R.D. Hartman,
dated 06 April 1982 and subsequent annotated comments by
Dr. Hartman on 14 April 1982, we submitted written evidence
of following the restrictions until Ni63 increase usage
license was obtained.

d. Per attached Materials License Supplement Sheet from W.J.
Walker, Jr., dated 15 April 1982, we are now authorized to
use the N163 sealed source in the gas chromatograph,

e. Full compliance was achieved on 15 April 1982.

.2.. a. Food item in isotope laboratory.
.

(1) Per attached letter from Drs. R.A. Gilmore and R.D. Hartman,
to J.E. Whitten dated 22 March 1982, and the attached memo to

,

'

Dr. Gilmore from Dr. C.N. Corder, dated 24 March 1982, individual

! responsible for violation met with supervisor and together
| reviewed Guidelines for Radioisotope Usage and Handling (copy
'

attached) on 17 March 1982. This individual has been retrained
and issued a warning which is placed in her permanent file.

(2) To minimize the possibility of this violation happening again,
both the Chairman of the Radiation Safety Committee and the
Acting Radiation Safety Officer are making regular and random

,

unannounced inspections _of this laboratory.

-(3) The specific violation has been dealt with, and retraining was
completed on 17 March 1982. This individual will be monitored
very carefully during the next year. Full compliance was

achieved 17 March 1982.

L
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2. b. Pipetting of radioactive material by mouth.

(1) Per attached letter from Drs. R. A. Gilmore and R. D. Hartman,
to J. E. Whitten dated 22 March 1982, and the attached memo to
Dr. Gilmore from Dr. C. N. Corder dated 24 March 1982, individual

responsible for violation met with supervisor and together
reviewed Guidelines for Radioisotope Usage and Handling (copy
attached) on 17 March 1982. This individual has been retrained
and issued a warning which is placed in his permanent file.

(2) To minimize the possibility of this violation happening again,
both the Chairman of the Radiation Safety Committee and the
Acting Radiation Safety Officer are making regular and random
unannounced inspections of this laboratory.

(3) The specific violation has been dealt with, and retraining was
completed on 17 March 1982. This individual will be monitored
very carefully during the next year. Full compliance was
achieved 17 March 1982.

Respectfully submitted,

.- r
Y 6 6.,'.' ,,. -m,.

.a . , # / r % ', ,

Dated. Roger D.,Hartman, Ph.D., Assoc. Dean,
Researet and Grants Administration
Acting Radiation Safety Officer

.e

/ ?/f/ > &'

Dated Richard A. Gilmore, Ph.D., Assoc. Dean,
Biomedical Sciences
Chairman, Radiation Safaty Committee

'/07 ~ /f,' /7 ft'l V
Dped Sydney A. Gftrett, M.D., Dean,

School of Medicine
Acting Director,
Research and Grants Administration

. he^ -- & |7- @ ')
Notary Public Date

. . . . -..

My commission expires

RDH:jel
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License: 35-18282-01

-

Oral Roberts University
: ATTN: S. A. Garrett, M. D., Director

Research and Grants Administration
7777 South Lewis
Tulsa, OK 74171

Gentlemen:

This refers to the routine safety inspection conducted by Messrs. J. E.
Whitten and C. A. Hooker of this office on March 17-18, 1982, of the activities
authorized by the NRC Byproduct Material License 35-18282-01 and to the discussion
of our findings held by the inspector with members of your staff at the conclusion
of the inspection.

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under the license
as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's
rules and regulations, and the conditions of the license. The inspection
consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records, .

interviews of personnel, independent measurements, and observations by the .

inspector.
.

During this inspection certain of your activities were found not to be conducted
in full compliance with NRC requirements. Item 1 of the Notice of Violation,

issued under the guidelines of NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C),
47 FR 9987, is normally a Severity Level III violation under Supplement VI.C.2.
However, since the unauthorized material does not endanger the health and safety
of the general public, and you have agreed to request the necessary amendment to
bring yourself within compliance, the violation severity level has been reduced
to a Level IV violation. Consequently, you are required to respond to this matter,
in writing, in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.201 of the NRC " Rules
of Practice," Part 2, Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations. Your response should
be based on the specifics contained in the Notice of Violation attached to this
letter.
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Oral Roberts University 2--

Should you have any questions concerning this letter, we will be pleased to
discuss them with you.

Sincerely,

Glen D. Brown, Chief
Technical Program Branch

Enclosure:
Appendix - Notice of Violation

bec: c/o DMB
AE0D
IE Files
IE/RSB
NMSS
NRC PDR

bec: RIV
J. Collins
K. Seyfrit/ Marshall
Inspector
S. File
HQ File
RIV File

-
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APPENDIX

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

. Oral Roberts University Docket: 30-14781:

License: 35-18282-01

As a result of the inspection conducted on March 17-18, 1982, and in
accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C),
47 FR 9987 (March 9, 1982), the following violations were identified:

1. License Condition 6 authorizes the possession of any form of Ni-63 not to
exceed a total of 8 millicuries.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee possessed a 15 millicurie
Ni-63 sealed source contained in a Hewlett-Packard Model 5840 gas
chromatograph on March 17, 1982.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI.C.2).

2. License Condition 16 requires, in part, that licensed activities be
conducted in accordance with statements, representations, and procedures
contained in your application dated September 5,1978, and letter dated
November 30, 1978, with attachment entitled " Manual for the usc of
Radioactive Material - Oral Roberts University."

Material," of the Oral Roberts University (0RU)g of Radioactive
Section 8, Part 4 of the Item entitled "Handlina.

radiation safety

manual prohibits eating, storing or preparation of food in a
laboratory or room where work with unsealed radioactive material is
conducted a :d the possibility of contamination could exist.

Contrary to this requirement, a food item was discovered by the NRC
inspectors in a laboratory where unsealed radioactive materials were
being used on March 18, 1982.

b. Section 8, Part 5 of the Item entitled " Handling of Radioactive
Material," of the ORU radiation safety manual prohibits pipetting of
radioactive material by mouth.

Contrary to this requirement, pipetting of P-32 by mouth was
observed by the NRC inspectors on March 18, 1982.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement IV.D.5).
.

-
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Oral Roberts University -2-

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Oral Roberts University
is hereby required to submit to this office within 30 days of the date of this
. Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply, including: (1) the:
corrective steps which have been taken and the results achieved; (2) the
corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further violations; and
(3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Consideration may be
given to extending your response time for good cause shown.

Date i4T /m .

' I l' Glen T). Br'own, Chief'

Technical Program Branch
,
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License Condition 6 authorizes t he possession of any form of f!I-63
not to exceed a total of E millicuries. .

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee possessed a 15 r.Illicurle
t;i-63 sealed source contained in a Hewlett-Packard Model 5840 ges .

1982.
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:fs 7777 South Ie.fis Avenue
3 Oral Pdoerts University
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U Tulsa, Oklahcma 74171
f54

h In accordance with letter dated Marcii29, 1982, License Nu:nber 35-13282-01

;<g is a:nended as follcws:
ta

fj 'Ib Add:
Gt

3 6. Byproduct, source, and/or 7. Chernical and/or physical 8. Maxime:n amount that licensee
q special nuclear material form may I:ossess at any one time

under this license

b X. Nickel 63 foils X. '1hin foils X. Each foil not to
d exceed 15 millicuries
b
ij 9. Authorized use
d
$ X. Ibils will be used in electron capture detectors in gas chr:xratographs.
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April 6,1982

License: 35-18282-01
~ ~}, . _ _ . . - -

-

\

Oral Roberts University W 3 1982
ATTN: Roger D. Hartman, Ph.D.

Director -

. . _ . - .

Office of Research and Grants _j
7777 South Lewis Avenue
Tulsa, OK 74171

Gentlemen:

This refers to the telephone conversation between Dr. Richard Gilmore and
Mr. Jack E. Whitten of this office on March 26, 1982, regarding your use
of a radioactive sealed source which is not authorized by your license.

dt Regarding the matter discussed, we understand that you have undertaken or will
," undertake the following actions:

(1) Discontinue the use of the 15 millicurie Ni-63 sealed source contained in
,e

,
your Hewlett-Packard Model 5840 gas chromatograph.

I.
.(2) Apply for an amendment to your license to add the 15 millicurie Ni-63x

' sealed source to your license.,

/
(3I Ensure that the device containing the unauthorized source is secure and

not used until your license is amended by the NRC.

If our understanding of your planned actions as described above is not in<

/ accordance with the actual plans and action being implemented, please contact
this office immediately.

Sincerely,

. /u<.500m
John T. Collins
Regional Administrator

CERTIFIED MAIL - RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

q7cr/vE0
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Om1' Roberts universitv&
7777 South Lewis Tulsa. Oklahoma 74171

29 March 82

William J. Walker, Ph.D.
Material Licensing Branch
Division of Fuel Cycle and Material Safety
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20557

Re: NRC license no. 35-18282-01
-

.

Dear Dr. Walker:

Regarding our telecon of Friday, 26 March 82, please consider
this letter as a request to amend NRC license no.35-18282-01 issued
to Oral Roberts University as follows:

b
1. To add under item 6, sources, part X, "Ni foils" as

sealed sources

2. To add under item 7, part X, " thin foils"

3. To add under item 8, part X, "Each foil not to exceed 15
millicuries"

These foils will be used in electron capture detectors in gas

chromatographs. The current instrument in use is a Hewlett-Packard,

Model # 5840-A, Serial C-1508.

Thank you for your expedient review and approval of this
**

amendment.
' .

Best regards,

! ($ s 4
Ko'ger D. rtman, Ph.D. , Associate Dean
Rese'a'rch and Grants Administration, and
Acting Radiation Safety Officer

/)f ^ -

(
Richard A. Gilmore, Ph.D. , Associate Dean
Biomedical Sciences, and Chairman,
Radiation Safety Co=mittee

RDH:jel

q ] gEnclosure

cc S. A. Garrett, M.D. g3

Jack Whitten



, , . - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

n- c. .

;; . s :
-

o o '- -
-.

.. ..

* CMsCX mo.

ORAL ROBERTS UNIVERSITY-

Q (QQ7 TULSA. OKLA. 74171
41219 j4-

y
,

****** FORTY DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ******

PAY TO THE ORDER OF
'

DATE CHECK AMOUNT,

3/30/82 S40.00
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Orol' Roberts tiniversity
7777 south Lewis * Tulsa. Oklahoma 74171

22 March 82

I

Jack Whitten, Radiation Specialist
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Region IV, Suite 100
611 Ryan Plaza Drive
Arlington, Texas 76011

Dear Mr. Whitten: |

|
We are writing in reference to the inspection you and Mr. |

Charles Hooker made 16 and 17 March,1982, at Oral Roberts
. University regarding our NRC Radioactive Materials License,
#35-18 282-01.

The three issues raised regarding findings in the labora-
tories have been addressed and this is a prelimir.ary report
about that. The chairman of the department was notified of
the deficiencies and the potential problems which could result.

! The technicians involved will be given specific instructions
regarding radiation safety in the laboratory and they will not
be allowed to use radioactive materials until this instruction

| has been given. A written record of the instruction will be
| placed in the file, and this record will be signed and dated
| by the technicians, the authorized . users, under whom they work,
! the chairman of the department, and the acting Radiation

Safety Officer. Part of this instruction will include refer-
ences to employees' responsibilities for following procedures

| established by the institution.

Frequent unannounced inspections will be made in these
laboratories to assure compliance. Should noncompliance be
observed, the authorized user will be notified in person and
in writing that his authorization to use radioisotopes has been
suspended. Consideration to regaining authorization to use
radioisotopes will include additional training for that user and
the technicians.

The other items you mentioned are receiving attention and
we will provide you additional information as quickly as
possible.

-S $(b(b, l(fI V .&-
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Jack Whitten, Radiation Specialist 22 March 82
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Comission Page 2

Enclosed are some descriptive materials about the University.
Thank you for your time and efforts here.

,, Sincerely,

{ CA u.-.
.? -

Nj''4 2 > Sio'gec D. Hartman , Ph. D.'
I .-.

Acti'ngjadiation Safety Officer

y b r?JWK -

Richard A. Gilmore, Ph.D.
Chairman, Radiation' Safety Comittee

RAG:jcl

- cc: Mr. Charles Hooker
Dr. Sydney Garrett

Enclosures
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ORAL ROBERhUNIVERSITY . TULSA, OKLAHOMh4171
'

To: RADIOISOTOPES USERS. Department of Pharmacolony

From: C.N. Corder. Chairman of Pharmacolony & Dan kendfix. Student Lab Coordinator

Dats: October 9, 1981 / I.-

////AF'" /
C.C. Dr. Richard Gilmore. Chairman Rafiation Safety Committee: Dr. Roger Eartman.

:

Radiation Safetv Officer: file

Subject: Guidelines of Radioisotope Usage and Mandline

I
n.< m

Following is a reco== ended set of guidelines for radioisotope usage for
the department of Pharmacology:

1. Radiation Monitoring
1. Routine radiation safety wipes must be conducted weekly and documented by

the appendix VIII form. .

2. Isotope inventory records (appendix V) must be current.
3. The experimental use form (appendix VI) must be current.
4 Geiger counters are located in rooms 3B20, 3B12 and 3B06. They are to be

used to fill out your weekly log book of readings..

5. Identify any radioactive waste barrel contents by the appendix VIII form.
Your name, isotope and mci must be filled out and left on top of the appli-
cable vaste receptacle.

II. Major and Minor Radioactive Spills
1. Use the attached procedure as a guideline. Post near your work area in case

of an accident.
2. Call the Radiation Safety Officer of ORU, Dr. Boger Hartman. All spills must

be reported.

III. Radioisotope Handling
1. Use tongs or forceps to hold the radioisotope source.
2. Body or finger badges must be worn at all times while at work.
3. Rubber or plastic gloves must be worn when working with unsealed radioactive

materials.
4. Rooms in which radioactive materials are stored must be locked when vacant for

any length of time.
5. Preparation of food, eating, smoking and drinking shall not take place in a

room where radioactive materials are used.
6. Mouth pipetting and application of cosmetics are prohibited in rooms where

radioactive materials are used.
7. Storage of food or drink shall be in a non-radioactive lab. Use of the re-

frigerator/ freezer in room 3B05 is encouraged.
8. There will be no sewer disposal of radioactive vaste.

IV. Miscellaneous
1. Notify the department chairman of intent to change a radioactive lab to non-

radioactive usage. A series of monitoring procedures will then be initiated
before the room can be declared " safe".

| These guidelinee are meant to be followed, and will be in effect upon receipt of this
i arxam Snet iwaections vill be initiated shortly and any willful violse sill be
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IIN CASE OF ACCIDENL CALL THE APPROPRIATE NUMBER GIVEN BELOW:

ElBE AND POLICE, EXT. 7760
RADIATIONSAFETYOFFICER'RA|0PAGE

MINOR SPILLS INVOI.VIllG NO HADIATION llAZARD TO PERSONNEL MAJOR SPILLS INVOLVING RADIATION !!AZARD TO PERSONNEL

1. Notify all other persons in the room at once and 1. Notify all persons not involved in the spill
retain them nearby. to vacate the room at once.

2. Turn off air conditioners and seal area. 2. If the spill is liquid, and the hands areG 3. Permit only the minimum number of persons protected, right the container.
( necessary to deal with thn. spill. 3. If the spill is on the skin, flush thoroughly

,

4. Confine the spill immediately. 4. If the spill is on clothing, discard outer or.

S. Notify the Radiation Safety Officer as soon protective clothinn at once.
as possible. 5. Switch off all fans and air conditioners.

6. Decontaminate. 6. Vacate the room.
7. Monitor all persons involved in the spill 7. Notify the Radiation Safety Officer.

and cleaning. 8. Take immediate steps to decontaminate the
8. Permit no persons to resume work in the area personnel involved as necessary.

until a survey is made, and approval of the 9. Decontaminate the area.
Radiation Safety Officer is sec~ured. 10. Monitor all persons involved in the spill

9. Prepare a complete history of the decident and cleaning,
and subsequent activity related thereto 11. Permit no return of personnel until the
for the laboratory records, approval of the Radiation Safety Officer.

12. Prepare a complete history of the accidentg and subsequent activity thereto for the
records of the Radiation Safety Officer.

'

.

TIIIS INSTRUCTION NOTICE WILL DE POSTED $
IN ALL LABORATORIES CONTAINING RADI0 ISOTOPES $

e
x
><

,

. ' .

. . .
.

'

. _ _ _ _ . _ _ _ _ _ . __ _ _ . - _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ __



f~ SIM?iC02&WWWT (MD&Q
'

.

", ORAL ROSh UNIVERSITY . TULSA, OKLAHCt.074,7,, ,

To. Richard A. Gilmore, Ph.D. , Associate Dean for Biomedical Sciences

Clinton H. Corder, Ph.D., M.D., Chairman of Pharmacology /[4
March 24, 1982 M/ // h
Roger D. Hartman, Ph.D., Radiation Safety OfficerJ_ '

.

.
--

, bj.su ect Recent Violations of use of Radioisotopes in the Department of Pharmacolovv

M 211

materials in the Department of Pharmacology on March % is to note that I held a special meeting of all users of radioactive!
17, 1982. This is to notethat I rehded each that

1981, regarding Guidelines of Radioisotope Usage and Handling, and to furtherI previously circulated a memorandum dated October 9
i
'

,

note that this nemo was reviewed in detail with me on March17, 1982. This isalso to note that I reminded them that I had previously reviewed the memorandumfrom Dr. R. Gilmore os Laboratory Safety dated October 20, 1981, circulated inthe d2paat as Ref. No. 382.
detail on March 17, 1982. This memo was also again reviewed by me in;3

Each user was require,d'to sign a statement which acknowledged this
of the pharmacology department. meeting of March 17, e198p These signed statements are in the personnel file

by Thomas Blake and Nancy Leckie haskbeen sent to you, as these specifiIn addition,"5.!ML$f of the signed statements
dividuals were involved in the NRC citations. c in-

c2 eared of unlabed radioactive waste.I have met further with various individuals and the room 3B06 has been

Thank you, and I apologize for this problem, particularly si
made major efforts to insure compliance and will continue to do sonce we have

.

1

1

1 nct:'l

I

| pp o. A. '!992
|
\

;

C7 '

|
|
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,

To: Clinton N. Corder. Ph.D. M.D. Cha,iman of Pharencolonv. Professor of Pham & Medicin

pm Tom Blake, Pharmacology Research Technician

Ott :

C.C.

.

Jbject: Radiation Laboratorv Safetv

...,

This is to note that I met with you in a special meeting on March 17,
1982. Other users of radioactive materials in the Department of' Pharmacology
were also present. This is to note that I previously received your memorandum
dated October 9,1981 regarding Guidelines of Radioisotope Usage' & Handling
and to further note that this memo was reviewed in detail with ce on' March
17, 1982. This is also to note that I had.previously reviewed the memorandum
from Dr. R. Gilmore on Laboratory Safety dated October 20, 1981 and circulated
in the department as Ref. No. 382. This me=o was also reviewed by ma in
detail on March 17, 1982.

I understand that I was in violation of these rules and regulations, as
cited by officers of the Nuclear Regulatory Co=uission in their visit on"
March 17, 1982. I guarantee that I will strive to insure that these violations
will not happen again and I understand that if I am caught in violation', that
it might lead to severe disciplinary action, including loss of my employinent
at Oral Roberts University.

kfNs d
Tom Blake

S W 9 C- t Date

cc: oger Hartman, Ph.D., Acting Radiation Safety Officer, ORU.

Richard Gilmore, Ph.D. , Associate Dean for Biomedical Sciences

]1'

g 2-
) s sv
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,
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it mightOral Roberts University.
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Nancy Leckic Datedat
,

h / k 4 '.' macologys

Ph.D. , Professor of Pharof Pharmacology
Associate ProfessorOfficer Sciencesf

Nicholas P. Plotnikof , Harold C. Harder, Ph.D. , Acting Radiation SafetyDean for Biomedicalcc:

er Hartman, Ph.D. ,Gilmore, Ph.D. , Associate
ichard
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Oral' Roberts LLniversity
7777 south Lewes * Tulsa, oklanoma 74171

19 March 82

Jack E. Whitten, Radiation Specialist
U. S. fluclear Regulatory Comission
Region IV, Suite 700
611 Ryan Plaza Drive
Arlington, Texas 76011

Dear Mr. Whitten:

Attached are copies of the papenvork we have on the Hewlett-
Packard model 5840 gas chromatograph. This .is the instrument con-
taining the 15 mci nickel-63 source, for which we are not presently
licensed. Checking the previous license and amendments, I am un-
able to verify that we have been authorized to possess more than
2 mci of nickel-63.

We will continue to investigate the purchase and delivery of
this source. We will request a license amendment to ausorize us
to possess the source. We will keep you informed of our findings.

Sincerely,

.Y --n
Richard A. Gilmore , Ph.D.
Chairman
. Radiation Safety Committee

RAG:jcl

cc Mr. Charles Hooker
Dr. Roger Hartman

Enclosures

L,,, -, ,.

3Pf

\\
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License: 35-19898-01

City _of Faith Medical and Research Center
ATTN: William B. Luttrell

Chief Administrative Officer
8181 South Lewis Avenue
P. O. Box 3600
Tulsa, OK 74136

Gentlemen:

Thank you for your letter of May 14, 1982, in response to our

letter and the attached Notice of Violation dated April 21, 1982.

We have no further questions at this time, and we will review your corrective

action during a future inspection.

Sincerely,

.' Original s;gned by:
G. D. OROWN"

Glen D. Brown, Chief
.

Technical Program Branch
bec c/o DMB
AE00
IE Files
IE/RSB
NMSS
NRC PDR
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CITY OF FAITH
Medical and Research Center

Oral Roberts Ministries

%~_

May 14, 1982

Wg 2 0 SS2 (

United States
Nuclear Regulatory Commission I, . ~.

Region IV L-

611 Ryan Plaza Drive, Suite 1000
Arlington, Texas 76011

Gentlemen:

In accordance with the provisions of Section 2.201 of the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission " Rules of Practice", Part II, Title 10, Code of Federal Regula-
tions, we are responding to the specifics contained in the notice of violation
dated April 21, 1982, which stemmed from the initial safety inspection of ac-
tivities authorized by the N.R.C. Byproduct Materials License 35-19898-01.
Each violation will be addressed in order and include the following:

1) Appendix D: Failure to test the dose calibrator for geometrical
variation, linearity, and accuracy.

2) Appendix D: Failure to test the dose calibrator daily for instrument
constancy.

3) Appendix I: Failure of daily surveys in the Hot Lab and injection
areas.

4) Appendix F: Failure to obtain exposure rates of all packages con-
taining radioactive material.

5) Appendix 0: Failure of the Radiation Safety Officer to make a quar-
terly review of occupational exposures to detennine that the exposures
are ALARA.

6) Failure of the Nuclear Medicine " Hot Lab" and the Xenon 133 delivery
rooms to have lockable doors.

7) Failure to post copies of 10CFR-Part 19, 10CFR-Part 20, and the cur-
rent license.

8) Failure to post Form NRC-3 " Notice of Employees" in any restricted
area.

9) Failure to post signs bearing the Radiation Caution symbol and the
words " Caution Radioactive Materials".

b'O S i hf97 /R
h - - - - . . I

'

8181 south Lewi> |O
P O. Box 36000

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74136
418/493-1000 J
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10) Failure to record the results of leak test made on calibration or
referenced sealed sources containing 100 microcuries or more of
byproduct material in units of microcuries.

11) Failure to conduct a quarterly physical inventory to account for
all sealed sources received and possessed.

Reply to these violations is as follows:

1:
A) Test of dose calibrator for geometrical variation, linearity

and accuracy were perfonned in accordance with the methods for
calibration of dose calibrators outlined in Appendix D: Section
Two. The results of these test indicated a geometrical varia-
tion of less than plus or minus 2%, a linearity of less than
plus or minus 5%, and an accuracy within plus or minus 5% after-

decay corrections.

B) Test of the dose calibrator for geometrical variation, linear-
ity, and accuracy are required under the provisions of our
Nuclear Medicine Policy and Procedures Manual. Results of these
tests are documented on forms drawn up by the Nuclear Medicine
Department and reviewed monhtly by the Radiation Safety Officer
and quarterly by the Raidation Safety Committee. Results of
instrument accuracy measurements using standard sources are
graphed daily.

C) Full compliance was achieved and has been in effect since April
1, 1982.

2:
A) Using the method prescribed under Appendix D: Section Two, the

dose calibrator is tested daily for instrument constancy using
a CS-137 source at all the corrmonly used radionuclides settings.
This is plotted on semi-log paper. No variations greater than
plus or minus 5% from the predicted activity have been found.

B) A daily instrument constancy check is required in the Nuclear
Medicine Department's Policy and Procedure Handbook. The data
obtained is reviewed monthly by the RSO and quarterly by the .

Radiation Safety Committee.

C) Full compliance was achieved on April 1, 1982.
- - ----.- - - -.-...- - . . _ _ . _ _ j

8181 South Lewis
P.O. Box 36000

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74136 I
918/493-1000 J
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Medical and Research Center

Oral Roberts Ministries

3:
A) Daily air surveys are perfomed with a Geiger Mueller meter and

documented. The results of these studies are recorded as mR/hr.
Weekly wipe tests are also perfomed and recorded. Results of
these studies are recorded in uCi units.

B) These documents are checked monthly by the Radiation Safety
Officer. The Radiation Safety Committee reviews these docu-
ments quarterly.

D) Full compliance was achieved on March 15, 1982.

4:
A) Packages containing unit doses are received daily. These are

surveyed for exposure rate taken at contact and at three feet
from the package. These data are recorded on the daily receipt
log.

B) Survey of all incoming packages is part of the Policy and Pro-
cedures Manual for the Nuclear Medicine Department. The Radia-
tion Safety Officer reviews the data from the surveys monthly
and the Radiation Safety Committee reviews them quarterly.

C) Full compliance was achieved on April 15, 1982.

5:
A) Occupational exposures are determined for personnel in the Nuclear

Medicine Department. These have been reviewed and have not ex-
ceeded investigational Level One.

B) As part of out commitment to the ALARA program, dosimetry data
for personnel in the Nuclear Medicine Department are reviewed
monthly by the Radiation Safety Officer and quarterly by the
Radiation Safety Comittee.

C) Full compliance was achieved on March 19, 1982.

6:
A) Locks have been installed on the entrance doors to the Nuclear

Medicire " Hot Lab". Nuclear Medicine personnel, the Radiation
Safety Officer, and Security are the only personnel with keys
to the Hot Lab. The Xenon 133 delivery room as yet does not have

_ . . _ _ . _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

8181 South Lewis
P.O. Box 36000

Tulsa. Oklahoma 74136
918/493-1000
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a lockable door.

8) Options regarding the Xenon 133 room are:

1) At current levels of operation less than two Xenon 133 studies
are performed per month. Until compliance is achieved, we
would prefer to continue perfonning these studies not to ex-
ceed three cases per month.

2) A lockable door will be installed; thus sealing the Xenon 133
delivery room.

C) Full compliance with lockable doors fcr the Nuclear Medicine " Hot
Lab" was achieved on March 20, 1982. Full compliance with a lock-

able door for the Xenon 133 delivery room can be achieved by July
1, 1982.

7:
A) A notice specifying where the Nuclear Medicine license,10CFR-Part

19, and 10CFR-Part 20 can be found is placed within the Nuclear
Medicine " Hot Lab".

B) As part of the Radiation Safety Committee internal audit check-
list it is noted that it is necessary to know where these docu-
ments can be found.

C) Full compliance was achieved on March 15, 1982.

8:
A) Form NRC-3, " Notice of Employees" is posted in the Nuclear Medicine

" Hot Lab".

B) The posting of such documents has been added to the Radiation Safe-
ty Committee internal audit check-list for quarterly meetings.

C) Full compliance was achieved on March 15, 1982.

9:
A) Signs bearing the " Radiation Caution" symbol and the words " Radio-

active Material" have been placed outside the Nuclear Medicine De-

partment, on the doors to the various imaging rooms and the Nuclear
- . . - . _ - .. . _ . - . . - .

8181 South Lewis
P.O. Box 36000

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74136
918/493 1000
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Medicine " Hot Lab".,

B) Posting of such signs has been added to our internal audit check-
list to be reviewed quarterly by the Radiation Safety Committee.

C) Full compliance was achieved on March 15, 1982.

10:
A) Leak tests have been made on referenced sealed sources of Cesium-

137, Cobalt-133, Barium-133. The results of these studies were
negative. Appropriate documentation is in place. Initially these
were in counts-per-minute; however, these are now given in micro-
curies .

B) As part of the Policy and Procedure Manual for the Nuclear Medicine
Department, leak tests are performed on a quarterly basis. The
results of these studies are reviewed by the Radiation Safety Offi-
cer and the Radiation Safety Committee on a quarterly basis. The
results are given in units of microcuries.

C) Full compliance was achieved on March 15, 1982.

11:
A) An inventory of all sealed sources received and oossessed was carried :

out.

B) The inventory will be conducted at least quarterly and reviewed by
the Radiation Safety Officer and the Radiation Safety Committee. i
These are appropriately documented and noted in the Policy and Pro-
cedures Manual of the Nuclear Medicine Department. j

C) Full compliance was achieved on April 30, 1982. '

With the exception of the lockable door for the Xenon-133 delivery room, appro-
priate steps have been taken to correct all of the violations brought forth by
the recent N.R.C. inspection. A lockable door for the Xenon-133 delivery room
should be in place by July 1, 1982.

Regarding your concern about the role of management in meeting our license require- |
ments, it should be noted that the Radiation Safety Committee has taken an active

8181 South Lewis '

P.O. Box 36000
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74136

,

918/493 1000
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role in addressing the issue of these violations. Mr. Phil Prosser, as Assistant
Administrator, sits on this cannittee and has been actively engaged in the review
of these violations and the implementation of corrections. The Radiation Safety
Committee, while required to meet quarterly, has been meeting on a twice-per-month
basis. Copies of the meetings' minutes have been sent to Dr. James Winslow, Chief
Executive Officer, Len Genung, Clinic Administrator, Joe Gunn, Hospital Administra-
tor, Patrick D. Lester, Chairman of the Department of Radiology, and myself. An
internal audit system has been set up within the Radiation Safety Canmittee so
that the appropriate documents can be reviewed by respective representatives of
Administration and Nursing to see that they meet the requirements of our Nuclear
Medicine license. The Radiation Safety Officer, of course, reviews such documents
on a more frequent basis.

We believe that we have taken the necessary steps to correct the violations brought
to our attention by the recent Safety inspection conducted by representative of the >

Nuclear Regulatory Commission. We also believe that appropriate forms for document- |
ing compliance with these regulations of our license are in place and that through '

an internal audit check-list, review of these documents can be made by the Radia- |

tion Safety Officer, the Radiation Safety Committee and the Management of this in-
stitution. If you require further elaboration on any points in our reply we would
happy to furnish them.

,

Sincerely,
,

'
-

.

,c -=> '

William Luttrell
Chief Administrative Officer

.

_ _ . _ . - _ . _ . _ _ . _ . _ _ _ . . . _ . . _ _ _ _ _

8181 south lewis
P O. Box 36000

Tuha. Oklahoma 74136
918/493-1000
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License: 35-19898-01

-City of Faith Medical and Research Center
ATTN: William B. Luttrell

Chief Administrative Officer
8181 South Lewis Avenue
P. O. Box 3600
Tulsa, OK 74136

Gentlemen:

This refers to the initial safety inspection conducted by Messrs. J. E.
Whitten and C. A. Hooker of this office on March 15-16, 1982, of the activities
authorized by the NRC Byproduct Material License 35-19898-01 and to the
discussion of our findings held by the inspectors with members of your staff
at the conclusion of the inspection.

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under the license
as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's
rules and regulations, and the conditions of the license. The inspection
consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records,
interviews of personnel, independent measurements, and observations by the
inspctor.

During this inspection certain of your activities were found not to be conducted
in full compliance with NRC requirements. Consequently, you are required to
respond to this matter in writing in accordance with the provisions of Section
2.201 of the NRC " Rules of Practice," Part 2, Title 10, Code of Federal Regula-

Your response should be based on the specifics contained in the hoticetions.
of Violation attached to this letter.
In addition, we are concerned about the implementation of your program for
management control of your licensed activities that permitted these violations

Consequently, in your reply you should describe, in particular,to occur.
those actions taken or planned to improve the effectiveness of your management
control of the requirements of your license.

The responses directed by this letter and accompanying Notice are not subject
to the clearance procedures of the Office of Management and Budget as required
by the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, PL 96-511.
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-City of Faith Medical and Research -2-
Center

Should you have any questions concerning this letter, we will be pleased to
discuss them with you.

Sincerely,

John T. Collins |

Regional Administrator

Enclosure:
Appendix - Notice of Violation

i

bec: c/o DMB
AE0D
IE Files

|IE/RSB ,

NMSS
I

NRC PDR

bec: PH
J. Collins
K. Seyfrit/ Marshall
Inspector
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HQ File
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APPENDIX

f,0TICE OF VIOLATION

City of Faith Medical and Re:,earch Center Docket: 30-19491
License: 35-19898-01

As a result of the inspection conducted on March 15-16, 1982, and in
accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, (10 CFR Part 2, Apnendix C),
47 FR 9987 (March 9, 1982), the following violations were identified:

1. License Condition 17 requires that licensed activities shall be conducted
in accordance with statements, representations, and procedures contained
in radioactive material license application dated November 3, 1981. The
license application contains a comitment to follow the recommendations
of Regulatory Guide 10.8.

a. Appendix D of the Regulatory Guide requires that the dose calibrator
be tested initially for geometrical variation, quarterly for
linearity, and annually for accuracy.

Contrary to this requirement, neither geometrical variation,
quarterly linearity, or annual accuracy test had been done on the ;

dose calibrator during the period November 9,1981 to Narch 15,
1982.

b. Appendix D, Section 2.C.5, of the Regulatory Guide requires that the
dot e calibrator be tested daily for instrument constancy and the
results of these daily checks be plotted on a graph.

Contrary to this requirement, daily instrument constancy checks had
not been plotted on a graph during the period November 9,1981 to
March 15, 1982.

c. Appendix 1 of the Regulatory Guide requires that all elution, ,

ipreparation, and injection areas will be surveyed daily and
decontaminated as required.

Contrary to this requirement, radiation surveys of elution,
preparation, and injection areas had been conducted weekly during
the period November 9, 1981 to March 15, 1982.

d. Appendix F of the Regulatory Guide requires that all packages
containing radioactive material will have the exposure rate taken at
contact and at 3 feet from the package.

..

Upp .
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City of Faith Medical and Research -2-
Center

Contrary to this requirement, the exposure rate had not been taken
at contact and at 3 feet from any packages received containing
radioactive material during the period November 9, 1981 to March 15,-

1982.

e. Appendix 0, Section 6, of the Regulatory Guide requires that the
radiation safety officer make a quarterly review of occupational
exposures to determine that the exposures are ALARA.

Contrary to this requirement, the radiation safety officer stated
that he had not made any quarterly reviews of occupational exposures
as required by Appendix 0 during the period November 9, 1981 to
March 15, 1982.

f. Application section entitled " Facility Diagram" requires, in part, ,

that the nuclear medicine " hot lab" and the Xe-133 delivery rooms ,

have lockable doors. |

Contrary to this requirement, NRC inspectors observed that neither i

the nuclear medicine " hot lab" or the Xe-133 delivery rooms had
lockable doors on March 15, 1982.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI.D.2).

2. 10 CFR 19.11(a) and (b) require that each licensee shall post current
copies of 10 CFR Part 19,10 CFR Part 20, and the license or a notice ,

specifying where such documents may be found and examined.
I

Contrary to this requirement, neither the required documents nor a notice
were posted on March 15, 1982. .

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI.E).

3. 10 CFR 19.11(c) requires that Form NRC-3, " Notice of Employees," shall be ,

posted by each licensee wherever individuals work in or frequent any |
portion of a restricted area.

i.

Contrary to this requirement, such a form was not posted on March 15,
1982.

This is a Severity V violation (Supplement VI.E). i'
i

4. 10 CFR 20.203(e) requires, in part, that each area or room in which |-
licensed radioactive material is used or stored and which contains any !'
radioactive material in amounts exceeding 10 times the quantities I,

specified in Appendix C of Part 20 shall be conspicuously posted with
a sign or signs bearing the radiation caution symbol and the words:
" CAUTION RADIDACTIVE MATERIAL."



. . .

City of Faith Medical and Research -3-
Center

Contrary to this requirement, NRC inspectors observed that " CAUTION
RADIDACTIVE MATERIAL" signs were not posted on the doors to the nuclear
medicine " hot lab" which contained quantities of radioactive material in
excess of the amounts outlined in Appendix C of Part 20 on March 15,
1982.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI.E).

5. 10 CFR 35.14(e)(2) requires, in part, that the results of leak tests made
on calibration or reference sealed sources containing 100 microcuries or
more of byproduct material be given in units of microcuries.

Contrary to this requirement, results of leak test made on a 234
microcurie Ba-133 and a 266 microcurie Cs-137 sealed calibration sources
were given in counts per minute on the November 11, 1981, leak test
report. ,

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI.E). L

6. 10 CFR 35.14(f)(2) requires, in part, that the licensee conduct a
quarterly physical inventory to account for all sealed sources received
and possessed.

Contrary to this requirement, a licensee representative stated that a
quarterly physical inventory of sealed sources had not been conducted
during the period November 11, 1981 to March 15, 1982. *

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI.E). |

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, City of Faith Medical and Research '

Center is hereby required to submit to this office within 30 days of the date ,

of this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply, including:
(1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the results achieved; (2) the

'corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further violations; and
(3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Consideration may be
given to extending your response time for good cause shown, t-

L6M YDated - af k:.2- '
,.

| ' Glen D. Brown, Chief ,.

| Technical Program Branch i;

~
-

1

,
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License Corcition 17 requires thet licensed ec11v111es shall be
c o r.d u c t e d ir. eccorcer.ce w l1 h s t a t er.c ni s , representations, e r. d prc-
.cedures conteir,ed I r. redloacilvt n.e i e r . e l licenst e p p l i c e i l c. n detet

ho v ern b e r 3, 19E1,wlit t/o d e l ALARA Frogrem. The license a pp l i cat i o r:
conteins e c omtn li n e nt to follow 1ho r e comm e r'.d e t i o n s o f Reguleiory
Guide 10.E.

e. Appendly D of 1he Regulefory Guide requires that 1he dose celltreter
te testec inittell) for pecmeirical verletion, querierly for
lincerit) end ennuelly for eccuracy.

C6ntrary to this rcquirereni, r.e l t h e r geomeirical verletion,
quarterly lineerity or annual eccurecy test hed been done on
1he dose celibrador during the period November 9, 1981 to f4erch

15, 19E2.

L. Appendix D of the Regulatory Guide requires ihet the dose cellbretor
be tested delly for instrument constancy and the results of these
delly checks be plotted on a graph as specified in Secilon 2.C.5.

Contrary to this requiremeni, delly instrument consiency checks
had not been plotted on e graph during the perloc November 9, 1961
to f4erch 15, 1962.

c. Appendix I of t he Reguletory Guide requires t hat all elution,
preperation, and injection areas will be surveyed delly and
decontaminated if required.

rAb
Contrary it ibis requirement, d;*'y surveys of eluilon, preparation,
and injection arces had been made weekly during the period
November 9, 1981 to toerch 15, 1982.

d. - A p Fe n d i x, l' of the Regulatory Guide requires ihet all packages
containing radioective meteriel will have iht exposure rete
i a kc ri etcontect and ei thrte feet f rom t h e package.

Contrary 1o this reculremeni, the cyposure rete had not been taken
et conteci and at three feet of any packages conielning radioactive
tr.e i e r t a l during the period Noverber 9, 1981 to tierch 15, 1982.

|
e. Appendl> 0 of the Regulaiory G'ulde' requires thei the redletter.~

| safety officer r.ede e quarterly review of occupe1ionel exposures
|

1o determine thei the exposures are ALARA In eccordence with
Secilon 6 of ibis appendix.

Conirery to t his requirement, thy redletion safety officer stated
thei he had not made any querierly reviews of occupational

s exposures es required by Appendix 0 dur i ng t he per iod f4cvember 9,1981,
to March 15, 1982.,.

!
.
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.f. A p p l i c e11 o r, section en1111ed " Facility Diecrerr." requires,
in part, t hei the nuclear medicine " hot leb" and the Xe-123

*

delivery rooms have lockeble doors.

Contrary t o t h i s r equ i r erne nt , NRC inspectors observed that
neither t he nuc leer med1 cine " hot let," or the Xe-133 delivery
rooms had lockable doors on f4erch li, 1962.

..

This is e Severity Level IV violat ion (Supplement VI.D.2).
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10 CFR-19.11(a) end (t) require 1het each licensee shelI post
current copies of 10 CFR Part 19, 10 CFR Part 20, and 1hc license
or a notice specifying where such documentsemay be f ound and
e x e rr i n e d .

Con 1 r e r y 1o t h i s r equ i r ernent , neither the required docurents nor
a noilce were po st ed on t/ arch 15, 1982.

This is a Severity Level V violation ( Eu p p l eme nt VI.E).
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10'CFF. 19.11(c) requires thet Form NRC-?, " Notice to Employees,"
shell t> E posted t- y each l i c e r.s e e whercever I r.d i v i d u e l s work in or

.

frecueni eny portiori of a rcsiricted arte. ,

. Con 1rary to t hi s reou t rement , such a form was not posted on
Merch 18 1962.,

This Is e Severity Level V viole11on (Supplemer.t VI.E).

' w _,

!

$

:

- - - _ _ _ _ _ _ - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ - - _ _ _ _ _ - _ - - - - _ - _ _ _ . _ - _ _ _ - _ _ ._ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ - - _ - _ _ _ - _ _ _ -



_

.s .. .

* 1";-*'"""'
-

: ... ..is c5:. : 6,r. i su , , . ' gqg,q , g gg ygt.:.: . t *:c :.. m a :,;,., . m . v. i ,, g

g,4 * " ' " ' " " " " T *' . S e:
INSPECT OR*$ REPORT JUO ' ' # I ' I L III 5M IO i *

l' l; *

]'.(t
* * * * * *' '' I I ' '

(Continuel6on)
! I /'

Office of inspection and Enf orcement -i i
- .

_

10 CFR 20.203(e) requires, I r, peri, that t e c t. ered or room i r, whict

licensed radioactive meterial is used or sto, red end which contains.
eny r a d i oa c t i v t- met er i e l in er.ou nt s ex c eed i ng 10 t imes t he quant it i cs

s,p e c i f l e d in Appendix C of ibis Part sr, elf be conspicuously
posted with e sigt or signs toering the redle11or. caution syr.bol
and the words:" CAUTION RADIDACTIVE MATERIAL" .

-

Conirery to t his requiremeni, NRC Inspectors. observed that
"C AUT ION R AD I O ACT I V E M AT ERI A L" s i gns we r e not posted on the doors

to the nuclear medicine hot lat. which contained quantit les of
radioactive meteriel in excess of t he ernount s out l i ned in Appendix
C of Part 20 on March 15, 1982.

This is a Severity Level V viole1 Ion (Supplement VI.E).
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10 CFR 35.14(e)(2) requires, in part, thei the results of leek tett

" mace of cellbre11on or referenct sources containing 100 microcurles

or rnore of radioactive byproduci meterial be'given in units of

rn i c r o c u r l e s .

Cont rary to t his requirement , results of leek test mede on a 234

microcurie Be-133 and 260 microcurie Cs-137 sealed calibre 11on

source's were g iven _I n counts-per-mi nut e on t he November 11, 1981,
leak 1est report.

This is a Severity Level V violetion (Supplement VI.E).
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10 CFF 38.14(f)(2)-ricuires, in pert, itet the licensee conduci e
'

querierly physical inver. tory tc eccount for all sealed sources
'

received and p o s h e s t E'd . '
s

Contrery to t his r ege l r en ent , e licenrec representative stated that
a quar 1erly physical Inventory cf seeled sources had not b e e r,
c o n d u c;t e d during it.e period tJc v em b e r 11, Jc61 to March 15, 1962.

,

\ '

This IS e Severity Level N violetion ( S u p p l e r.e nt VI.E).
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